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January 19, 2021 

 

Bryan K. Gould, Esq. 

Cleveland, Waters and Bass, P.A. 

gouldb@cwbpa.com 

 

 

Re:  Proposed Granite State Landfill Traffic Study Comments & Questions 

 

 

Dear Bryan, 

 

 I write in your capacity as counsel for Casella in its efforts to site the proposed 

Granite State Landfill in and around Dalton, NH. As you know, I represent North 

Country Alliance for Balanced Change, a New Hampshire non-profit corporation 

comprised of residents and property owners in the greater Dalton area who are 

passionate about balancing the area’s development with protection of natural and 

economic interests. 

 

 As you will see from the enclosures, I recently wrote the Department of 

Transportation with comments and questions. In response, the Department advised us to 

pose questions directly to the project’s development team as the most efficient and 

effective way for us to get answers. Accordingly, by this letter we are taking up the 

Department on its advice. 

 

 Kindly respond to the comments and questions contained in the enclosures. 

Thank you in advance for your and the rest of the development team’s efforts on this. 

Please contact me if you have any questions. 

 

 

        Very truly yours, 

         
 

        Amy Manzelli, Esq. 

Licensed in New Hampshire 

        (603) 225-2585 

        manzelli@nhlandlaw.com 
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Encl: 

1. BCM Environmental & Land Law, PLLC Letter, by Amy Manzelli, Esq., to 

New Hampshire Department of Transportation, dated 12/17/20; and 

2. New Hampshire Department of Transportation Letter, by Philip L. Beaulieu, 

P.E., to Amy Manzelli, Esq., and Eliot Wessler, dated 1/4/21. 

 

Cc: 

Clients 

Bill Watson, Administrator, Bureau of Planning and Community Assistance at  

Bill.Watson@dot.nh.gov 

Phillip Beaulieu, District Engineer, Lancaster District Office, at  

Philip.Beaulieu@dot.nh.gov 

Richard P. Arcand, Richard.Arcand@dot.nh.gov 

Nicholas B. Sanders, Nicholas.Sanders@dot.nh.gov 

District1@dot.nh.gov 

Bureau46@dot.nh.gov 

info@dot.nh.gov 

Town of Dalton, admin-assistant@townofdalton.com 

Town of Littleton, selectmen@townoflittleton.org 

Town of Bethlehem, admin@bethlehemn.org 

Town of Carroll, selectmen@townofcarroll.org 

Town of Whitefield, administrativeassistant@whitefieldnh.org 

North Country Council, klamb@nccouncil.org; nccinc@nccouncil.org 
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December 17, 2020 

 

VIE EMAIL 

New Hampshire Department of Transportation 

 

Mr. Bill Watson, Administrator 

Bureau of Planning and Community Assistance 

Bill.Watson@dot.nh.gov 

 

Mr. Phillip Beaulieu, District Engineer 

Lancaster District Office 

Philip.Beaulieu@dot.nh.gov 

 

 

 Re: Proposed Granite State Landfill Traffic Study Comments & Request 

 

 

Mr. Watson and Mr. Beaulieu, 

 

 I write on behalf of my client, North Country Alliance for Balanced Change, a 

New Hampshire non-profit corporation comprised of residents and property owners in 

the greater Dalton area who are passionate about balancing the area’s development with 

protection of natural and economic interests. Please make this letter a part of your 

record in this Application. 

 

As you know, my client wrote directly to you on November 17, 2020 to begin to 

express its concerns with traffic. Since that time, we have retained TEPP LLC to review 

and advise us about the September 2020 Traffic Study prepared by T.Y. Lin 

International for the proposed Granite State Landfill. I enclose the review of TEPP 

LLC. 

 

We conclude from the review of TEPP LLC that Casella’s review of the 

possible traffic impacts of its proposed landfill is inadequate. The traffic study contains 

only the most basic aspects of traffic impact analysis. This proposed project is large 

enough to merit more than the run-of-the-mill traffic analysis. We respectfully request 

that the DOT instruct Casella to supplement its traffic impact analysis to address the 

many deficiencies noted by TEPP LLC in the enclosed.  

 

Additionally, not having received any response yet, my client writes again to 

focus on their specific questions. That letter is also enclosed. 
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Thank you for your time and attention to this submission. I look forward to your 

response.  

 

 

Very truly yours, 

         
        Amy Manzelli, Esq. 

Licensed in New Hampshire 

        (603) 225-2585 

        manzelli@nhlandlaw.com 

 

Cc: 

Client 

Richard P. Arcand, Richard.Arcand@dot.nh.gov 

Nicholas B. Sanders, Nicholas.Sanders@dot.nh.gov 

District1@dot.nh.gov 

Bureau46@dot.nh.gov 

info@dot.nh.gov 

Town of Dalton, admin-assistant@townofdalton.com 

Town of Littleton, selectmen@townoflittleton.org 

Town of Bethlehem, admin@bethlehemn.org 

Town of Carroll, selectmen@townofcarroll.org 

Town of Whitefield, administrativeassistant@whitefieldnh.org 

North Country Council, klamb@nccouncil.org; nccinc@nccouncil.org 
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Related questions—the traffic study implies that exactly 50 trucks would be larger 
vehicles— why does DOT think that the study specifies exactly 50 such trucks? Why 
does the study not provide detail about leachate tankers, especially given the location of 
roads alongside major rivers especially vulnerable to releases? 
 
Question 3: Will any trucks larger than 18-wheelers enter or exit the site?  Observers 
who have been to the NCES facility recently have identified 22-wheel vehicles entering 
and/or exiting that facility.  If the answer is that larger vehicles may be used we would 
note that some of the assumptions that were used in the study are inaccurate and the 
study should therefore be updated. 
 
Question 4: Why does the study not consider the inefficiencies that result from having 
the proposed route from I-91 go significantly out of the way, i.e., through Bethlehem, 
Twin Mt., and Whitefield, instead of through downtown Littleton?  The study says:   
“The routing of trucks to and from the site was based upon origins and destinations to 
and from I-93…”   Casella has indicated elsewhere that up to half of the solid waste 
trucked to the site will come from origins other than NH.  And the proposed route for 
trucks accessing the site from I-91 will travel what appears to be an extra 30 miles 
compared to a more efficient route over US 302 through downtown Littleton.  No 
justification in the study for choosing such an inefficient route has been provided. 
 
Question 5: Why was the route through Whitefield accepted by DOT as the proposed 
route for the traffic study even though that route is inconsistent with the routing 
criteria identified in the traffic study?  The study says the criteria used to identify the 
proposed route is the:  “… most appropriate non-interstate routing considering 
community impacts and roadway infrastructure constraints.”  These criteria were not 
followed.  The route that is by far most consistent with the criteria would go through 
downtown Littleton, thereby: a) increasing travel distance on I-93, b) decreasing travel 
distance on non-interstate roadways, and c) impacting only one community (i.e., 
Littleton) instead of the two communities impacted by the proposed route (i.e., 
Whitefield and Twin Mountain).   We would note that reason the criteria were not 
followed is perfectly obvious—so that Casella can avoid entanglements with powerful 
political forces in Littleton.  This is crystal clear to anyone attending the January 29, 2020 
DOT meeting in Lancaster or anyone who has read the minutes from that meeting, 
where John Gay, Engineer for Casella is quoted as saying “Casella wants to avoid conflict 
with residents and businesses in downtown Littleton that may be caused by trash trucks 
driving through central Littleton.”  Moreover, the February 22, 2020 Scoping Meeting 
minutes say: “The general consensus was that the proposed trucking route along US 3 
through Whitefield was preferable to other alternatives (such as through downtown 
Littleton).”  Those minutes suggest that avoiding Littleton was taken as a given, without 
any discussion or any analysis. 
 
Question 6:  Are the criteria that are used to identify the proposed route in the traffic 
study the only criteria that a traffic study should use?  We think the answer is no, and 
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therefore the proposed route should be rejected by DOT.  For example, a route through 
Bethlehem from I-93 northbound significantly shortens the route compared to the 
proposed route through Twin Mt. and Whitefield.  In addition, fairness has not been 
considered.  A fairer truck route would spread the burden of truck traffic rather than 
concentrate it on Bethlehem, Twin Mt. and Whitefield.  In fact, the most fair route 
would have trucks go through Dalton, since Dalton is the only town that is not impacted 
by the proposed route and is the only town that is likely to be financially compensated 
by Casella. 
 
Thank you in advance for considering our concerns re the assumptions in the traffic 
study.  We hope to hear from you soon on this matter.  And please note we may have 
additional comments on the traffic study, which we will get to you as soon as we have 
had enough time to review the study. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
/s/ Eliot Wessler 
 
Eliot Wessler, President of the NCABC Board of Directors 
 






